THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

SEP 21 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2014-000594

The State, ..... Respondent,

v.

Devatee Tymar Clinton, ..... Petitioner.

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

Chad N. Johnston  
**WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**  
Post Office Box 8416  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-8416  
(803) 252-3300

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender  
**SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION  
ON INDIGENT DEFENSE**  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 734-1330

Attorneys for Petitioner

Alan Wilson  
John W. McIntosh

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to consider the proffer of testimony made during a pre-trial motion *in limine* hearing in finding that an argument was not adequately raised to the trial court and therefore unpreserved for appellate review?
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals' incorrect application of issue preservation violates Rule 18 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure and imposes an impossible standard on practitioners?
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to adequately consider the directed verdict issue in this case in light of recent opinions of this Court, notwithstanding the fact that the evidence and testimony in this case merely raised a suspicion, but failed to meet the elements of the charged crime?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This writ of certiorari seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this appeal, which affirmed the verdict against Petitioner Devatee Tymar Clinton. (**App. p. 1**). Petitioner was tried before a jury, along with co-defendant Al Martinez Green, in Lancaster, South Carolina, during the week of March 10-14, 2012. (**App. p. 32**). Following deliberations, Petitioner was found guilty of murder and thereafter sentenced by the trial court to life in prison, without parole.

Below, the Court of Appeals imposed an improper error preservation standard that conflated the general rules regarding renewal and sufficiency of an objection following a motion *in limine* hearing, with the adequacy of the proffer of testimony. The Court of Appeals' misapplication of the preservation rules resulted in its failure to reach the merits of the hearsay issue presented, which demonstrated the trial court's error in the application the binding precedent of this Court in the case of *State v. M. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 558 S.E.2d 518 (2002). *See* (Arguments presented on the merits, **App. pp. 750-65**). In addition, the opinion's relegation of Petitioner's directed verdict issue to a Rule 220 Opinion exhibits a continued misapprehension of the law on the issue of circumstantial evidence in the context of an appeal from the denial of a directed verdict motion, demonstrating that the recent opinions of this Court in, *inter alia*, *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016) and *State v. Pearson*, 415 S.C. 463, 783 S.E.2d 802 (2016), have rendered consideration of a defendant's directed verdict issue on appeal a mere formality by the Court of Appeals warranting (less than) cursory review.

The facts of this case are lengthy and heart wrenching, but serve to frame the questions presented in this petition. Late in the evening on January 19, 2012, Jenika

Jones (Victim) was killed by a single gunshot wound. (**App. p. 112**). At the time of her death, Victim was in her home, a mobile home in a mobile home community located off of Highway 200 near Great Falls, South Carolina. (**App. p. 273**). Victim's three children, all under the age of four years old, were also in the home at the time she was killed. (**App. pp. 65-76**). Her oldest, a four year old boy, went next door to notify neighbors of the incident, which neighbors subsequently called 9-1-1. (**App. pp. 45; 51**).

Upon arrival, Lancaster County Sherriff's Officers found Victim, already deceased, laying on the couch in the mobile home's main, family room. (**App. p. 71**). The youngest two children, a girl, aged two, and a second boy, aged one, were found in the home; the oldest child remained with neighbors. (**App. pp. 65-76**). All three children had blood on their clothing. (**App. pp. 51-52; 87-88**).

Police arrived on the scene within minutes of the call to 9-1-1. (**App. pp. 47; 67**). Although the mobile homes in this particular community were very near to each other, the State produced no neighbors who heard the gunshot that killed Victim. (**App. pp. 80-83; 607-08**). Nor did the State produce any witness that saw someone entering or leaving Victim's mobile home. (**App. pp. 607-08**). Multiple officers and crime scene investigators, including a resident officer of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) responded to the scene. Evidence was gathered, the scene was dusted for fingerprints, and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) samples were collected.

Initially, Victim's children were secured by first responders in an ambulance at the scene. (**App. pp. 90-91**). There, the oldest child spontaneously stated (without provocation or questioning) to at least two police officers, as well as other EMS individuals on hand, that "Shi's Daddy shot my Momma." (**App. pp. 42-43**). Shortly

thereafter, the oldest child's exclamation changed slightly, becoming "Shortycake shot my Momma." (App. p. 45). This statement was repeated several times in the minutes following the first responders' arrival,<sup>1</sup> with all of these statements estimated to have occurred within thirty (30) minutes. (App. pp. 42-59; 284-87).

This issue was first brought to the trial court's attention by way of the State's motion *in limine*, prior to opening statements, seeking to exclude testimony of the statements from officers and first responders. (App. pp. 42-64). As described by Petitioner's counsel, police and investigators arrived on the scene of the mobile home community within minutes of the call to 9-1-1 by Victim's neighbors. (App. pp. 42-59; 284-87). Neighbors were notified of the situation by Victim's oldest son, who was four-years-old at the time, when he went next door to ask for help. (App. pp. 47; 51). Thereafter, in the presence of officers and first responders, and on multiple occasions, the oldest child spontaneously made the exclamations described above.

During this pre-trial discussion it was explained that "Shi" is a nickname for a boy whose first name is "Jamia." (App. pp. 45-47). It was also explained that Shi/Jamia's Daddy goes by the nickname "Shortycake," and Shortycake's actual name is Rashad Johnson.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* Substituting nicknames, the oldest child told officers and first responders on multiple occasions, within, at most, two hours of having been present inside the mobile home for his mother's killing, that Rashad Johnson shot my Momma; Rashad

---

<sup>1</sup> Although the statements changed each time the oldest child made them, the *content* of the statements remained the same; each variation identified the exact same person, demonstrating that the child's statements were constant, consistent, and reliable.

<sup>2</sup> During the *in limine* hearing, the solicitor confirmed that "Your Honor, we did verify there is a child who goes by Shi, the nickname Shi ... And that child's daddy is in fact Rashad Johnson." (App. pp. 45-46). The trial court inquired: "Okay. And is Rashad Johnson known as Shortycake?" *Id.* To which the solicitor responded: "Yes, sir he is." *Id.* Thus, Shi = Jamia, while Shi's Daddy = Shortycake = Rashad Johnson.

Johnson hurt my Momma.<sup>3</sup> The State objected to Petitioner’s counsel eliciting this testimony from officers and first responders on the grounds of hearsay. (**App. pp. 42-43**).

Counsel for the parties had a length colloquy with the trial court on this issue, lasting 22 pages of the transcript and record on appeal. (**App. pp. 42-64**). Initially, the trial court was concerned about the competency of the oldest child, stating that “I think you would have to determine although I realize 803 availability of a witness is immaterial but you have to determine the competency of the individual that made the statement.” (**App. pp. 46-48**). The State adopted this argument, arguing that an additional element of competency should be added to the court’s review of an exception to hearsay. (**App. pp. 46-47**). Ultimately, the trial court reserved judgment and took the matter under advisement overnight. (**App. pp. 52-53**).

The following morning of trial, the court made its ruling on the State’s motion *in limine*. (**App. pp. 60-64**). The trial court indicated that it had read the case law submitted by counsel and no longer believed that there must be a finding of competency of the oldest child prior to the admittance of his statements. (**App. p. 62**). The court denied the State’s motion and correctly ruled that, subject to the parties laying the proper testimonial foundation for the exception to the rule against hearsay, the child’s statements were admissible. (**App. pp. 63-64**). Inexplicably however, during the cross examination at trial of one of the officers to whom these statements were made, the trial court reversed its ruling without explanation and sustained the State’s renewed objection to the oldest child’s statements coming into evidence. (**App. p. 287**).

---

<sup>3</sup> Rashad Johnson was neither arrested to nor charged with Victim’s murder.

This ruling occurred during the following colloquy between the officer and Petitioner's trial counsel:

Q: Did you ever have any conversation with any of these children?

A: Yes.

Q: Which one?

A: Oldest child.

Q: Okay. Where did you have this conversation?

A: In the EMS truck.

Q: Do you recall about when you had this conversation? How long you had been on the scene?

A: I had probably been there about maybe 20 minutes, 30 minutes. So it was probably shortly before midnight, maybe.

Q: Do you recall the demeanor of this child?

A: He seemed – he didn't really seem too upset to a great extent. Kind of being entertained by EMS folks. They were trying to keep him and his sister and I guess the younger brother occupied to keep there [sic] mind off maybe their thoughts or whatever.

Q: Okay. Did you take a statement from any of these children?

A: No, I did not take a statement.

Q: Was anything told to you?

[SOLICITOR]: Objection.

[COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER]: I didn't ask what.

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. You may ask your next question.

[COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER]: Thank you, Your Honor.

**(App. pp. 286-87).**

After briefing and oral argument the Court of Appeals entered an unpublished opinion on May 11, 2016, sustaining the verdict against Petitioner. **(App. p. 5).** The

Court of Appeals found that Petitioner's argument based on the trial court's exclusion of the oldest child's hearsay statements to first responders was unpreserved for appellate review.<sup>4</sup> The case law and explanatory parentheticals cited in the unpublished 220 Opinion suggest that the Court of Appeals determined that Petitioner's trial counsel did not adequately proffer the oldest child's statements, or explain the content thereof, during the trial, notwithstanding the lengthy *in limine* hearing presenting the statements and the trial court's clear and unequivocal ruling on the issue. Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied on August 22, 2016. (App. p. 8).

### ARGUMENT

**I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER THE PROFFER OF TESTIMONY MADE DURING A PRE-TRIAL MOTION *IN LIMINE* HEARING, ERRONEOUSLY FINDING THAT THE ARGUMENT WAS UNPRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW DESPITE THE RECORD'S REFLECTION THAT THE TESTIMONY WAS FULLY PRESENTED *IN LIMINE* AND THEREAFTER PROFFERED AND EXCLUDED BY EXPRESS RULING ON THE RECORD DURING THE TRIAL.**

- a. The Court of Appeals conflated the general rule regarding the renewal and sufficiency of an objection following a motion *in limine* hearing with the adequacy of a proffer of testimony.

In finding Petitioner's arguments regarding the trial court's erroneous exclusion of certain hearsay statements at trial was unpreserved for appellate review, the Court of Appeals misapprehended and misconstrued the issue of the adequacy of a proffer of testimony, instead substituting the standard for the adequacy of a renewed objection to testimony in its place. This misapprehension caused the Court of Appeals to misapply the preservation standards to a situation and context where preservation has no

---

<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals also summarily rejected Petitioner's directed verdict argument.

application. In doing so, the Court of Appeals overlooked Petitioner's proffer of the disputed hearsay statements, the State's indisputable objection to those statements, and, most importantly, the trial court's explicit ruling that improperly excluded those statements. (**App. pp. 286-87**). With a clear and unmistakable ruling on the admissibility of the testimony in question, Petitioner's challenge to the trial court's exclusion of the testimony is preserved and the Court of Appeals' holding regarding preservation was incorrect as a matter of law and constitutes a solution begging for a problem that does not exist.

As described above, this issue was first raised to the trial court through the State's motion *in limine*, which sought to exclude the recounting of these statements through the testimony of the officers and first responders to whom these statements were made. (**App. pp. 42-64**). During this pre-trial discussion, the statements—and the circumstances in which they were made—were described in explicit detail. *Id.* After explaining the content and the context of the statements, the State objected to Petitioner's counsel eliciting this testimony from officers and first responders on the grounds of hearsay. (**App. pp. 42-43**). Ultimately, the trial court denied the State's motion and correctly ruled that the child's statements were admissible.<sup>5</sup> (**App. pp. 63-64**).

---

<sup>5</sup> It is worth noting here that the situation posed by this hearsay statement is somewhat atypical. In most criminal trials, the State is the proponent of incriminating hearsay statements that implicate the Defendant. In those cases, the Defendant is the party moving *in limine* to exclude the admittance of the hearsay statements. Further, more often than not, the objections to the statements by the Defendant are overruled by the trial court, which preliminarily allows the hearsay statements to be introduced later at trial. In those circumstances, in order to preserve the Defendant's objection to the admittance of the hearsay statements, our appellate court case law has consistently held that the Defendant must lodge a contemporaneous and adequate objection to the statements when they are proffered during the trial and in a manner that provides a reviewing appellate court with a sufficient record to determine the basis, or ground, for

Thereafter, one of the officers to whom the oldest child made these statements was called as a witness, and as demonstrated in the above-cited colloquy, counsel for Petitioner attempted to solicit the child's statements (which the trial court had already fully considered *in limine* and determined were admissible). (App. pp. 286-87). The State renewed its objection, as it must in order for its objection to be preserved, and the trial court—without explanation—reversed its prior ruling and excluded the statements. *Id.* On this record, it cannot be fairly said that any further explanation of the content of the oldest child's statements was required to apprise the trial court, and now this Court on appeal, about the statements. *See, e.g., Jamison v. Ford Motor Co.*, 373 S.C. 248, 260, 644 S.E.2d 755, 761 (Ct. App. 2007) (in finding that an argument as to excluded testimony was adequately proffered and preserved by reference to the discussion about that testimony that occurred during the *in limine* hearing, this Court held that “[i]t is well settled that a reviewing court may not consider error claimed in the exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the rejected testimony would have been ... [h]owever, this rule regarding proffers has been relaxed where the appellate court is able determine from the record what the testimony was intended to show and that prejudice clearly exists.”) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).<sup>6</sup> The State was on notice as to the content of the statements, having presented

---

the objection. Typically the trial court does not reverse the decision it reached *in limine* without any explanation on the record. This case is different. While not an anomaly, it is somewhat unique in the context of criminal law. Here, as the moving party, it was incumbent upon the State to renew its objection to the hearsay statements with adequate sufficiency, which it did. Because these typical roles were reversed, the Court of Appeals appears to have confused the principles requiring application.

<sup>6</sup> *See also State v. Santiago*, 370 S.C. 153, 163, 634 S.E.2d 23, 29 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Moreover, a proffer of testimony is required to preserve the issue of whether testimony was properly excluded by the trial judge, and an appellate court will not consider error

the statements itself during its objection *in limine*. And the trial court was clearly not laboring under any misapprehension as to the content of the statements, having overseen an in-depth discussion *in limine* and then taking this specific issue under advisement—*overnight*—to consider case law precedent about the statements’ admission.

By holding that Petitioner’s trial proffer of the hearsay statements was inadequate, the Court of Appeals reached one of two conclusions regarding the detailed discussion and proffer of the statements at the *in limine* stage: either (1) it ignored that discussion altogether, or (2) it determined that it was unable to refer to the *in limine* discussions in determining whether testimony had been adequately proffered and was preserved for appellate review. Either alternative is incorrect and a misapplication of rules regarding preservation. In doing so, it appears the Court of Appeals conflated the rule regarding renewal and adequacy of an objection following a motion *in limine* hearing, with the adequacy of a proffer of testimony that was presented during that same *in limine* hearing. That misapprehension and subsequent conflation of the two concepts amounts to an error of law. The Court of Appeals’ opinion appears to be alone in holding that an appellate court may not take into consideration the discussion of an issue during the *in limine* stage in its determination of the adequacy of a subsequent proffer. The reason there are no reported cases reaching that conclusion is that it is an incorrect statement of the law according to the contrary holdings of *Jamison* and *Santiago, supra*.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals’ application of error preservation principles to this situation begs the following questions: if the State was unaware of the content of the

---

alleged in the exclusion of testimony **unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the excluded testimony would have been.**”) (emphasis added).

statements that Petitioner's counsel was attempting to elicit from the Officer, **what was the basis for the State's objection?** No foundation for the objection was laid and no explanation was provided by the solicitor, because it is patently obvious from the transcript which statements were being elicited. And the logical follow-up question would, of course, be: if the trial court was unaware of the content of the statements that Petitioner's counsel was attempting to elicit, **on what basis did the trial court sustain the State's objection** (which likewise had no accompanying explanation)? The only logical response to both of these questions necessarily implies the adequacy of the proffer of the testimony which the Court of Appeals incorrectly criticizes in finding it unpreserved for appellate review.

- b. The case law cited by the Court is inapposite to the facts and procedural occurrences of this case, demonstrating a misapprehension by the Court of the arguments advanced by Petitioner.

The Court of Appeals' mistaken application of the preservation rules to this case is further demonstrated by the three primary cases cited in the unpublished opinion to support its conclusion. For example, the Court of Appeals cites *State v. Howard*, 384 S.C. 212, 219, 682 S.E.2d 42, 46 (Ct. App. 2009) for the proposition that the "finding an exclusion of evidence issue unpreserved where the State objected to testimony, the trial court sustained the objection and asked the jurors to disregard the testimony, and the appellant made no objections or arguments regarding the trial court's instruction to the jury to disregard the testimony." But the facts and holdings of *Howard* bear no correlation to the facts presented in this case.

Here, Petitioner was the proponent of the oldest child's statements to first responders, and while the trial court sustained the State's renewed objection to

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