**RECEIVED**

OCT 21 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Lancaster County  
Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-000594

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DEVATEE TYMAR CLINTON,

Petitioner.

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 607  
Lancaster, SC 29721

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Devatee Tymar Clinton (Clinton), is currently serving a life sentence for the January 19, 2012, murder of Jenika Jones in her Lancaster County residence. The Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted him in June 2012 for murder (2012-GS-29-616). App. 711-12. His co-defendant, Al Martinez Green, was also indicted for her murder (2012-GS-29-636). William P. Frick, Esquire, represented Clinton in the trial court, while Amy S. Raney, Esquire, represented Green. Clinton and Green received a joint jury trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon on March 10-14, 2012. The jury convicted both men of murder. App. 679-82. Judge McMahon sentenced both defendants to life imprisonment. App. 701. Clinton timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal.<sup>1</sup> Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed Clinton's conviction on May 11, 2016. *State v. Clinton*, 2016-UP-206 (S.C. Ct.App., May 11, 2016). App. 5-7. The Court denied Clinton's Petition for Rehearing (App. 11-27) on August 22, 2016. App. 8-9. Clinton thereafter petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari.

## ARGUMENTS

**I. Assuming that this Court disagrees with the Court of Appeals' reasoning, the Court should still deny certiorari, since Clinton's first argument is not preserved for appellate review because he failed to make an adequate proffer at trial to support introduction of this testimony, after obtaining a favorable *in limine* ruling on its admissibility. Alternatively, certiorari should be denied because the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the State's objection, since there was no evidence that the victim's son witnessed his mother's shooting and Clinton did not satisfy the other foundational requirements for introducing the out-of-court declaration.**

Clinton first argues that the trial judge erroneously refused to let him elicit an out-of-court declaration by the victim's four year old son that someone other than Clinton or Green shot his mother. The Court of Appeals found that this issue was not preserved for appellate review

---

<sup>1</sup> Green likewise appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction and sentence on May 11, 2016. *State v. Green*, 2016-UP-205 (S.C. Ct.App., May 11, 2016). It sent the Remittitur to the Lancaster Clerk of Court on May 27, 2016.

because Clinton did not renew his efforts to introduce testimony about this declaration at trial, in response to the trial judge's ruling sustaining the State's objection, despite the trial judge's *in limine* ruling that it was admissible. *Clinton*, p. 2; *App. p. 6*. Clinton attacks the finding that the first issue is procedurally barred, at length, asserting that the cases cited by the Court of Appeals are inapposite because the trial judge had previously ruled that the child's out-of-court declaration was potentially admissible. Even assuming *arguendo* that this Court disagrees with the Court of Appeals' reasoning,<sup>2</sup> certiorari should be denied for two reasons: (1) Clinton's first argument is not preserved for appellate review because he did not make an adequate proffer at trial to support introduction of this testimony, after obtaining a favorable *in limine* ruling on its admissibility; and (2) on the merits, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the State's objection because there was no evidence that the victim's son witnessed his mother's shooting and Clinton did not satisfy the other foundational requirements for introducing this out-of-court declaration under Rule 803(2), SCRE.

**A. Events at trial.**

The State moved pretrial to bar either Clinton or Green from eliciting out-of-court declarations by the victim's four year old son to the first responders after the Sheriff's Department took custody of them, "until other arrangements could be made." *App. 42-43*. Counsel for Clinton stated that after law enforcement arrived and was "still trying to assess what occurred," the victim's four year old son "spontaneously states to I think Investigator Crump first and then to another officer and I think maybe a third officer on the scene that Shi's daddy shot

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent submits that there was no error and that the Court of Appeals correctly relied upon the cases cited by it, such as *State v. Simmons*, 360 S.C. 33, 45-46, 599 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2004) (finding an issue unpreserved where the State objected to a witness's testimony, the objection was sustained, and the defendant failed to raise his argument regarding the trial court's exclusion of the testimony or proffer what that witness's testimony would have been had the witness been allowed to continue testifying), in finding the issue not preserved. Yet, this Court need not grant certiorari for the following reasons.

my momma.” Later, the child said that “Shortycake shot my momma.” *App. 43-44.*

To further clarify the issue, counsel explained that the victim’s son was named Antonio Lamont Truesdale, II, that the son’s nickname is Deuce,” and that his father was Antonio Lamont Truesdale. The nickname in the son’s declaration, “Shortycake,” was not the nickname of either Clinton or Green. Rather, it was the nickname of a Rashad Johnson, who is the father of “Shi.” *App. 44-45.* The State had verified that there was a child whose nickname was Shi, that Rashad Johnson was Shi’s father, and that Rashad Johnson’s nickname is “Shortycake.” The Solicitor also acknowledged that “Deuce” had made a statement to Inv. Crump. *App. 45-46.* When Clinton’s attorney confirmed that his position was the statement was admissible as an excited utterance, under Rule 803(2), SCRE, the trial judge stated, “I realize [under Rule] 803 [the] availability of a witness is immaterial but you have to determine the competency of the individual that made the statement. In this regard I’m dealing with a four-year old.” *App. 46.*

The Solicitor stated that the child’s competency was the basis for his objection, and that Clinton would have to make a showing of the child’s competency as a witness before the statement could be introduced. *App. 46-47.* Counsel for Clinton then argued that the child was four years old at the time of the murder. Almost immediately after the shooting, Deuce

goes to the next door neighbor's house and asks for help. They called 911. The police respond within 15 minutes.” Because it was cold, Deuce and his siblings were “put in an ambulance. [Deuce] makes the comment Shi's daddy hurt my momma. Jamia's (phonetics) daddy hurt my momma. Jamia and Shi are the same person and daddy they are referring to is Rashad Johnson. He makes this statement ... to Investigator Crump. He makes it in the ambulance in front of some of first responders who are on the [S]olicitor's witness list, and Mr. Plyler and Mr. Hope and then he says it spontaneous to Christy Rogers who is a CSI officer that responds there on the scene.

*App. 47-48.*

Counsel presented three cases to the trial judge in support of the position admissibility of

this declaration under Rule 803(2) did not depend upon the competency of the out-of court declarant and he asked the trial judge to consider these cases before ruling. Specifically, counsel relied upon *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 644 S.E.2d 684 (2007), *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 21, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002), and *In Interest of Smith*, 277 S.C. 187, 284 S.E.2d 586 (1981). *App.* 48. While the trial judge pointed out factual differences between those three cases and this case,<sup>3</sup> he made clear (in response to Green's argument) that his real problem with the proffer was that there must be a "foundation of the personnel knowledge of the hearsay declarant and then meet the three requirements within the rules." *See* Rule 602, SCRE. He also observed that "[p]resence in the home doesn't mean observation of the fatal act. That's all I am saying. ... That goes back to the rule 600 or something." *App.* 48-52.<sup>4</sup>

The trial judge addressed this issue again the following morning. He stated that:

As to the hearsay exception, under that *Ladner* case it appears and my thoughts yesterday was the difference between a victim who makes the statement, a child victim versus a child witness. It is clear in the case that is cited in *Ladner*, *Sims* and I forget the other name -- that those two children that were witnesses were found competent and then would not continue to testify on behalf of the State. They were called by the State. *It is clear* Judge Waters said *there does not have to be a finding of competency of the child necessarily under that hearsay exception. Depending on how it develops, I think is admissible.*

Now, having said that that if it meets the standard of 803.2. As far as the startling event, under the influence of the startling event, no time for reflection, quite frankly I really struggled with no time for reflection having many times in my life been around four years old I don't know what reflection they really do. But at the same time I can't group four year olds and say absolutely they don't reflect. With that being said it does not mean that [Deuce] [cannot] be called as a witness. I'm not saying he should be. I am just saying it does not mean he [cannot] be, if either

---

<sup>3</sup> He specifically noted that in two of the three cases relied upon by Clinton, the children were competent to testify, and the child declarant in the third case was the victim. *App.* 48-51.

<sup>4</sup> When Green asked if he was referring to the rule governing competency of a witness, the trial judge emphatically said, "No, ... I am referring to the rule of personnel knowledge and I just don't have the number right now." *App.* 52. He added, "I am not saying it is or isn't admissible. I am saying a foundation has got to be laid for its admissibility and ... you all are welcome to do it in whatever manner you all so choose." *App.* 53.

side chooses to do that and of course the jury could determine their observations of his competency. Of course it has been two years. [Sic)]. It's fuzzy in my memory, but there was a big difference in my children four to six years old. They are now regressing, but back then it was a big difference between four and six years as far as maturity level. As I say they are now regressing.

*App. 62-63.* (Emphasis added). When the Solicitor stated that his understanding of the trial judge's ruling was the declaration could be admitted "if the competency issue is not there and if they can establish the elements of the excited utterance," the trial judge again stated that the defendants did not have to show the declarant's competency "for purposes of asking those questions, but they do have to lay the foundation under the excited utterance." The child's competency or incompetency, however, could be presented to the jury. *App. 63-64.*

On Clinton's cross-examination of Inv. Taylor, he established that Inv. Taylor saw the children at the crime scene on the night of the 19<sup>th</sup>; that all three had blood on their clothing, including the oldest child; and that Inv. Taylor had seized their bloody clothing. *App. 284-86.* Clinton then engaged in the following inquiry, which he mistakenly contends preserves the present issue for appellate review:

Q Did you ever have any conversation with any of these children?

A Yes.

Q Which one?

A Oldest child.

Q Okay. Where did you have this conversation?

A In the EMS truck.

Q Do you recall about when you had this conversation? How long you [had] been on the scene?

A I had probably been there about maybe 20 minutes, 30 minutes. So it was probably shortly before midnight, maybe.

Q Do you recall the demeanor of this child?

A He seemed -- he didn't really seem too upset to a great extent. Kind of being entertained by EMS folks. They were trying to keep him and his sister and I guess the younger brother occupied to keep [their] mind[s] off maybe their thoughts or whatever.

Q Okay. Did you take a statement from any of these children?

A No, I did not take a statement.

Q Was anything told to you?

MR. BARFIELD: Objection.

MR. FRICK: I didn't ask what.

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. You may ask your next question.

MR. FRICK: Thank you, Your Honor.

*App. 286, line 25 – p. 287, line 25.*

On cross-examination by Green, Inv. Taylor testified that he had been in the ambulance with the children “[p]robably about ten minutes.” *App. 302-03*. Also, based upon the blood of the children’s clothing, it appeared that they would have been physically close to the victim; and the four year old was able to see the blood on his siblings’ clothing while he was in the ambulance. However, he appeared to be “happy-go-lucky” during the time that Inv. Taylor was with him. *App. 303-06*.

**B. Discussion.**

Initially, Respondent submits that the current issue is not preserved for appellate review. As the above discussion reflects, Clinton received a favorable *in limine* ruling and the trial judge *repeatedly* stated that testimony concerning the out-of-court declaration would be admissible if

the defense established an adequate foundation for the introduction of the testimony by offering evidence that (1) the child had witnessed the shooting, see Rule 602, SCRE (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter”), and (2) the declaration met the other requirements for introduction into evidence as an excited utterance under Rule 803(2), SCRE. Because he did not make an adequate proffer in accordance with the favorable *in limine* ruling, there is nothing for this Court to decide on appeal. See *State v. Trotter*, 322 S.C. 537, 543, 473 S.E.2d 452, 455 (1996) (“Inasmuch as petitioner was granted the relief he sought, but failed to take advantage of it, there was actually no issue to be decided on appeal”); *State v. Sinclair*, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (same); *State v. Brown*, 274 S.C. 48, 260 S.E.2d 719 (1979) (same). See also *State v. Simmons*, 360 S.C. 33, 46, 599 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2004) (the failure to make a proffer of excluded evidence will preclude review on appeal); *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Rev.*, 331 S.C. 611, 628, 503 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1998) (same); *Greenville Mem'l Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 244, 391 S.E.2d 546, 547 (1990) (“An alleged erroneous exclusion of evidence is not a basis for establishing prejudice on appeal in absence of an adequate proffer of evidence in the court below”) (citations omitted).

Yet, even if this issue was preserved for appellate review, Clinton is not entitled to relief. “The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). “Hearsay is ... ‘a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.’ Rule 801(c), SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, by other court rule, or by statute. Rule 802,

SCRE.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) “In order for [an appellate court] to reverse a case based on ... exclusion of evidence, error and prejudice must be shown.” *State v. Bell*, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990).

Rather than dispute that the oldest child’s declarations were hearsay, Clinton argues that these declarations were admissible “under the excited utterance exception to the rule against hearsay” (citing Rule 803(2), SCRE). However, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by sustaining the State’s objection. First, it is axiomatic that in order for the declaration that “Shi’s daddy shot my momma” to have been admissible, the four year old declarant must have, in fact, witnessed the shooting. See Rule 602, SCRE (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony”); *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 339 n. 11, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 n.11 (2013). Clinton assumes what he was required to prove: that the four year old child saw the shooting of his mother and that this was the basis for his declaration. However, the trial judge correctly recognized that he had not made any such proffer; he had only established that the child was in the house (with his siblings) when the victim was shot: “Presence in the home doesn't mean observation of the fatal act.” *App.* 52.

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